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Witnesses:  Mr Gerry Brown, Convener of the Society’s Criminal Law Committee, Mr 

Michael Meehan, Member of the Criminal Law Committee, and Mrs Anne Keenan, Deputy 

Director, The Law Society of Scotland; Dr Kai Hart-Hoenig, Vice-Chairman, Ms Louise 

Hodges, Secretary, and Mr Jonathan Mitchell, Treasurer, European Criminal Bar 

Association, examined. 

Q328  Chairman:  Ladies and gentlemen, thank you all very much indeed for taking the time 

to come and help us with our inquiry into the proposal for procedural rights in criminal 

proceedings to be harmonised, to some extent at least, across the European Union.  This is a 

very important topic and I am most grateful to you, and so are all the other Members of the 

Committee, for coming and helping us with our inquiry.  I think the value particularly of what 

you will have to say in answer to the questions that we have on this subject is that you are all 

legal practitioners, so have a particular experience and perspective which will be of great 

assistance to us.  Can I perhaps start by asking about your perception of the need for this 

proposal from the European Commission?  The purpose is to try to produce a level of 
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compliance constant across the European Union by Member States with minimum ECHR 

standards in criminal proceedings.  Do you perceive a need for this? 

Mr Mitchell:  My Lord Chairman, I am Jonathan Mitchell and I speak as Treasurer of the 

European Criminal Bar Association.  There is a great need, not least because Europe is a very 

varied area of legal tradition with very wide variations in the way in which it is dealt with, 

and there does need to be, not a homogenous and completely unified system, but attention to 

detail in the practical realities.  The ECHR case law is very good at what happens at the end 

of a set of proceedings but is woefully inadequate in terms of what happens right at the 

beginning if there is a problem.  In the main our concerns are to do with what happens at the 

outset of a criminal case and hope to provide some safer platform on which to begin 

proceedings.  That is the one we are looking at at the moment. 

Q329  Chairman:  Does it seem to you and your members that there have been systematic 

failures in other Member States or particular Member States in compliance with ECHR 

standards at the beginning of legal proceedings? 

Ms Hodges:  We understand that the figure of 38,000 is the outstanding cases to go to the 

European Court of Human Rights. 

Q330  Chairman:  38,000 in the pipeline? 

Ms Hodges:  Yes.  Taking that figure alone gives an indication.  Of course, they will not all 

be meritorious and they will not all be successful.  On the other hand, there will be several 

cases which have never got that far just because of the procedure that you have to go through 

and the costs that could be incurred in taking that procedure forward.  Also there is the time 

element.  It is very likely that if someone is suffering a custodial sentence they would be freed 

before any case came to the European Court of Human Rights. 
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Q331  Chairman:  Any addition to that from Scotland? 

Mr Brown: Not really, just to say thank you very much for the invitation to give evidence this 

afternoon, my Lord Chairman.  I would support the comments made by Mr Mitchell as far as 

the recognition that perhaps this Framework is focusing on the more practical implications of 

what should be done by those who are involved in dealing with suspects and what the 

suspects are entitled to in respect of their rights and safeguards. 

Q332  Chairman:  One of the last questions on which I will be asking for your help relates to 

the exercise of monitoring whatever Framework is put in place to try to improve matters.  

Looking at the Framework proposals as a whole, are they likely to improve the matters to 

which they are addressed? 

Mr Mitchell:  Not in their present form, my Lord Chairman.  We have set out, or have tried to 

set out, practical steps which need to be taken to firm up this Framework Decision.  It is partly 

because it has been a political exercise to try to get agreement on some common areas and 

often the trouble with a political decision is that attention to detail is lacking, the really 

effective attention to detail has not been looked at with care.  We think there is a great deal of 

work that needs to be done on the detailed application of standards in the legal systems. 

Q333  Chairman:  Thank you for that.  We will come on to the detail in a moment.  I am 

sure that you are right.  The action that is being proposed is being proposed at a Union level 

and it is being proposed to introduce standards which will apply not just in the case of 

criminal proceedings which have a cross-border element but also in relation to criminal 

proceedings which are entirely within one or other Member State’s boundaries.  Do you 

perceive any vires problem about this? 

Mr Brown: No.  Our view is that with the introduction of the European Evidence Warrant and 

with the various proposals about a European Prosecutor, we do support action at European 
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Union level and we think that this should apply to all European nationals and not simply to 

those that have a cross-border dimension. 

Q334  Lord Hope of Craighead: I think there is a technical problem here that perhaps I 

could flush out a little.  I think Article 1 has the broad reach that Mr Brown is suggesting, I 

think that is probably right, but the Treaty for the European Union, Article 31(C), provides 

that the common action is to ensure compatibility of rules applicable in Member States, as 

may be necessary to improve such co-operation, that is co-operation in Member States. There 

is a problem as to whether this is going further than the Treaty powers.  Is it possible to get 

around that?  Can you find a solution to the problem?   

Dr Hart-Hoenig: My Lord Chairman, if I may comment on this.  It is a question of how to 

construe the provision.  If you say, what is the intention of the Framework Decision, it is to 

improve or create the premises and conditions for mutual trust and mutual recognition.  Let us 

say in terms of logic, if I am detained in Italy, or if I am initially arrested there - it is then not 

a cross border case, it is a domestic Italian case.  However if I leave Italy and then have been 

surrendered then it is a cross border case.  What is the difference?  What is linking these 

matters is to create such an area of freedom, justice and security and to ensure mutual trust 

and mutual recognition.  The circumstances you will encounter in cases outside a home 

country and subject to protection by EU minimum standards must be equivalent more or less 

or, let us say, largely similar.   

Q335  Lord Hope of Craighead: Is it possible the solution you are suggesting is the uniform 

standards applicable to everybody remove the risk of misunderstanding where if somebody 

finds themselves in a strange country and perhaps their reason for being there is 

misunderstood is their true status is misunderstood?  If there is a uniform practice that applies 

to everybody, at least as far as co-operation is concerned, that is ensured in every case.   
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Dr Hart-Hoenig: I am somewhat reluctant to employ the word “uniform” because in the EU 

countries we have both adversarial and inquisitorial systems and, apart from that, other 

criteria often distinguishes between different treatments or issues.  I am not sure we would 

find uniform regulations that would be in accord with all the currently existing elements and 

would provide the same level of protection.  Therefore I have some reservations, but 

regarding let us say, the gist or the intention of your comment, I would say you are right, that 

should be the guideline for dealing with these issues.   

Mr Mitchell: May I endeavour to add something to what my friend from Germany has said.  

Our interests are in the rights of suspects and defendants - we are defence lawyers in the 

European Criminal Bar Association - and I think I would be bold enough to say, if by 

uniformity you mean providing better standards and safeguards for suspects and defendants 

and those being investigated in all EU countries, then I would be in favour of that.  I think Kai 

is saying, and I agree with him that there are clearly individual states with history of laws and 

procedures which we would not want to be damaged provided the standards for suspects and 

defendants were high.   

Q336  Chairman: Dr Hoenig’s reference to mutual recognition is important.  Ever since the 

European Arrest Warrant Directive or Framework Decision was approved, I think it has now 

been implemented in nearly all Member States, there is the prospect of individuals from any 

one Member State, including of course this country, being extradited to foreign countries to 

stand trial there without the merits of the case against them ever having been investigated in 

the country of origin.  That is fine as a matter of mutual recognition on a political level but the 

worry, speaking for citizens in the United Kingdom as a whole, is they have not necessarily 

got that confidence in the judicial systems of all other Member States that the political 

masters must profess to have.  Perhaps that underlines the importance of some minimum 

standards emerging as quickly as possibly in order to try to improve public perception of what 
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their fate would be if they do get extradited to these other Member States.  Do you think that 

the Framework proposals might achieve something in that direction or is that just pie in the 

sky?   

Mr Meehan: My Lord Chairman, the Society's position is that it would achieve something.  It 

is recognised as a first step, there is no doubt about that, but it is a significant first step.  How 

much ultimately it achieves will very much depend on compliance and that in itself is closely 

tied in with monitoring and evaluation.  However, it may prove to be illusory if there are 

rights but evidence which has been obtained when the rights have been disregarded is 

admissible.  This may mean that the EU citizen is not much better off at the end of the day.  

The foundation is there; whether it stands firm will very much depend on the compliance by 

the States.   

Mr Mitchell: May I deal with and build on to what has just been said.  I think nobody would 

argue that as an attempt to try to codify and set up a simple set of standards to promote mutual 

recognition, it is a good attempt.  The problem is - we have already dealt with this partly in 

the question - that it is not enough. It is out of time with other procedural frameworks going 

through: the arrest warrant, the evidence warrant which is hoped to be in place by January 

2005, no doubt with the other Framework Decisions coming through, and they are going fast 

through the system along with the terrorism proposals and so on.  The safeguards simply are 

not keeping up with the amount of European Union Framework Decisions that are coming 

through.  That is a singular dangerous problem, we submit, for defendants and suspects in all 

the countries of the EU.   

Ms Hodges: Particularly because it is mutual recognition without scrutiny in the other 

countries, so there is no opportunity to question any decisions that have been made.   

Q337  Lord Borrie: I am mildly surprised, Mr Mitchell by you being in favour of this 

Framework Decision at all.  When I read your written material, paragraphs 3(a), 6(a) and 6(b), 
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you were so damning on rather fundamental matters that I wonder whether you are being 

amazingly optimistic.  Negotiation can always achieve something but you are suggesting they 

are starting from such a low base that I wonder whether you have any hopes for this at all; 

you must do otherwise you would not be here.   

Mr Mitchell: The short answer, if I may, is I would rather there is something happening than 

nothing. It is only by at least discussing these things and bringing something to the table that 

this sort of further debate and discussion that is happening in your Lordship’s House can take 

place.  I agree with what I said, I stick to it.  A lot more needs to be done but at least people 

are thinking about it.  It is action that has got to take place now, not just thought.   

Dr Hart-Hoenig: If I make an additional point.  The problem is establishing an overview of 

all of these initiatives.  Speaking as a German we are pleased that the House of Lords is the 

only institution which has clearly stated that it is more or less prosecution driven.  And is the 

first entity dealing with procedural rights, the others are more or less blueprints for the 

prosecution side.  What we now need from the other side is some counterveiling measures.  

Thus while elements of the European Convention on Human Rights may clarify some points 

the initiatives are not going to create something going further than the ECHR which is not 

acceptable.  Moreover introducing and implementing further instruments is unacceptable if 

they are splitting up all these other instruments dealing with procedural rights.  I would argue 

that the introduction and implementation of further instruments is only acceptable when the 

various initiatives have been implemented.  Then should further instruments be forthcoming.  

It is agreeable that opinion within the EU has discerned that this could have some relevance to 

the protection of human rights but weak from a German perspective, since it constitutes the 

lowest common denominator. 

Q338  Chairman:  That brings one very aptly on to asking a question or two about the 

minimum standards.  This proposed instrument will be imposing minimum standards – 
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emphasis on the word “minimum” – and it is hoped that as many Member States as possible 

will have higher standards.  I think Mr Mitchell has in mind particularly, maybe everybody 

does, that it would be nice to see the minimum standards in the instrument raised somewhat.  

As against that one has to set the possibility, if one raises it too high, of failing to get political 

agreement and getting nothing.  I do not know what your feelings are about that.  As I 

understand it, particularly in regard to some of the Articles which require legal advice to be 

available immediately before questioning and then to be available throughout the period of 

investigation leading up to the trial, there are some of our European Union colleagues who 

would not wear that because it is so contrary to their traditional methods of conducting 

criminal investigations.  Does one push for these things and insist that the standards are raised 

or does one just take what one can get? 

Ms Hodges:  Although there are very different systems in Member States, we hope that the 

fundamental purpose of the criminal justice system is to convict the guilty and acquit the 

innocent.  Therefore, we would hope that any political party would be keen to make sure that 

safeguards are in place before instruments are put in place that increase investigatory powers 

and historically, we know, there is a risk that they get abused.  Without safeguards in place, 

do we want to be creating European instruments that could cause injustice?  I do not think that 

we should be shy about saying that these safeguards do need to be in place if mutual 

recognition is going to work at all in practice. 

Chairman:  Of course, it is right that all criminal justice systems try to acquit the innocent 

and convict the guilty, but probably a response to that might be that the minimum standards 

that are being suggested, or the higher standards that are being promoted, are designed to 

assist the endeavour to make sure that the innocent are acquitted and they do not have much 

to offer to ensure that the guilty are convicted. 
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Q339  Lord Hope of Craighead:  I just wondered whether I have picked up the Law Society 

of Scotland’s position correctly.  You do see the Framework Decision as in some respects 

raising standards as compared with what currently exists in Scotland, is that right? 

Mr Brown: My Lord, yes.  I have a difficulty with the word “standards”.  I prefer the words 

“rights, responsibilities, safeguards”.  The Scottish system, as my Lord knows and many of 

you will be aware of, is distinct from the system of England and Wales.  What we are dealing 

with there is access to detainees by qualified lawyers at an early stage, but that access is 

limited, and Anne may make some more comments about this, because of case law in that the 

access is not automatic, it is not a right.  If it did become a right, as it is presently framed, I 

anticipate there would have to be consultation in Scotland with the appropriate bodies, 

including the police, as to how that right should be exercised.  Anne, do you want to come in 

on this? 

Mrs Keenan:  My Lord Chairman, we have had this matter judicially determined in Scotland 

in the case of Paton v Richie in the 2000 Scots Law Times, page 239.  That was a case in 

which the person sought access to a solicitor and it was held in that case that there was no 

such right in Scotland under section 14 of the Criminal Procedures (Scotland) Act 1995.  

Accused persons have a right to intimation of the detention to the solicitor but the Act does 

not confer any rights on the person detained to have access to that solicitor before he or she is 

interviewed.  That matter is ultimately a matter which will rest with the police authorities to 

determine.  We appreciate that the admissibility of the evidence obtained will be a matter 

which will be determined subsequently by questions of fairness and the like during the 

procedure of the trial, but there is no absolute right as it is framed currently in Article 2.2 of 

the Framework Decision.  To that extent, it would be a clarification of a detainee’s right under 

Scots law.  That is one aspect of it.  The other aspect relates to interpreting and translating.  

Whilst we have a system in Scotland whereby in recent years we have had some development 
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because we have had a separation of the role of the Crown in that process, previously the 

Crown would instruct the interpreter for the accused person to operate at the trial but since 

devolution and since the Human Rights Act 1998 we have a position now whereby the Crown 

will only instruct the interpreter for the witnesses and then the court will separately instruct 

the interpreter for the court for translation purposes.  We then have a further separation where 

there is another interpreter instructed if the defence wishes to communicate with the client in a 

particular way. 

Q340  Lord Hope of Craighead:  Really we are looking at interpretation at a very early 

stage, are we not, when the suspect, as he has become, is still in the police station.  In 

practice, what change would be needed if these procedural rights were taken into account? 

Mrs Keenan:  Perhaps not at the stage of instruction but in regard to monitoring and ensuring 

that there is a basic standard of quality in interpreting services.  That would be a major change 

for us.  Currently I am working in a group with the Crown Office representing the Society 

which is very alive to these problems because we have a concern at the moment that in 

instructing interpreters there is no vetting procedure and no monitoring of standards.  I am 

aware that your Lordships will have heard evidence from other witnesses about the National 

Register, which I think is organised by the Institute of Linguists, but my information is that it 

has very few Scottish interpreters on it.  From having discussed this matter with the Crown 

Office, I understand that very few interpreters are actually taken from that register.  We do not 

have a separate Scottish register at the moment but I understand that the Scottish Executive 

has commissioned some research to look into this matter.  The group that I am working with 

at the moment is proposing vetting procedures.  We are working with Disclosure Scotland to 

try to find out something about the people we are instructing and putting in court.  We are 

very keen that there is some monitoring of the quality of the interpreting standards.  The 
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change would not be at a practical instruction level but definitely at the monitoring and 

compliance levels. 

Q341  Chairman:  To the extent that some of the proposals that look as if they might go into 

this Framework Decision would require a raising of the standards in Scotland, is that a 

development that the Scottish legal profession as a whole would support or would you feel 

nervous about its practicality? 

Mr Brown: I think the view we have at this stage is that there would have to be consultation 

on it.  The balance would have to be struck between the proper investigation of crime and 

access to a lawyer by the detained person, who often is a vulnerable individual.  For example, 

it may be the case that the six hour period of detention would have to be suspended for a 

period of time to allow a solicitor to make himself available.  Linking in with that, the 

position that we take is that because this is the start of the process and it involves all the 

safeguards, it is very difficult to envisage anyone other than a solicitor having access to an 

individual at that stage because one has to give advice looking forward to the whole process 

of the trial, and possible appeals.  You have to have someone who is trained to do that. 

Q342  Chairman:  Thank you.  Coming back to what I was discussing with Dr Hart-Hoenig 

earlier, my understanding is that in France in particular there would be substantial opposition 

to a proposal that there had to be a lawyer representing the suspected person before any police 

questioning could take place.  They have taken the view that all questioning is done under the 

general authority of the investigating magistrate and that is a sufficient protection for the 

accused.  What is the perception of the European Criminal Bar Association about the 

prospects of obtaining a provision of the sort that at the moment is being suggested in the face 

of French opposition?  Is it more important to get something in place than to insist on what, 

from our perspective, we think would be a very necessary protection? 

12 



Dr Hart-Hoenig:  My Lord Chairman, I would say I guess you are mirroring the French 

position accurately and all French lawyers would applaud because they are saying, “Okay, we 

are more or less decoration for the criminal proceedings”.  From a German perspective, we 

now have the first cases regarding the European Arrest Warrant and there is not much leeway 

for the courts and for the administrative authorities but they have some room and they could 

be reluctant to act if they suspected that they were extraditing German nationals to other EU 

countries where laws relative to the protection of Human Rights are significantly weaker than 

in the home state.  Under these circumstances I would insist on a higher level and if this fails 

would conclude as a defence lawyer that “I have a good argument to say that it is better to try 

the defendants in Germany than to extradite them to France.  Let us identify some reasons for 

not extraditing them.”  By the same token a Bill passed in a National Parliament on a lower 

level could also dilute protection in Germany.  That is my position and I would guess the 

position of the ECBA as a whole. 

Q343  Chairman:  We should stand up for the proper standards to be specified in the 

Framework Decision? 

Dr Hart-Hoenig:  Yes. 

Q344  Chairman:  That is interesting. 

Mr Mitchell:  May I add to that, my Lord Chairman, to make the same point but differently 

put. Our French colleagues in the ECBA in any event are unhappy with their own French 

system, if I may put it that way, those defence lawyers where they want to have access to their 

clients at the earliest stage.  Although with ordinary cases it is 48 hours that the defendant or 

suspect is closeted for questioning, and with terrorists it is four days, I think, most of our 

colleagues, almost 100 per cent of them, would want to see a change in that regard.  Change 

can come about by pressure and by example and there are few obstacles to someone being 
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moved from one country to another with the European Arrest Warrant if the documentation is 

basically right; possibly human rights issues can get in the way.  There are few obstacles to 

somebody being transmitted to another country.  It is only when that other person, the British 

citizen, ends up in France and is put through that procedure that the outcry would come and 

the impact of the change will result. 

Q345  Chairman:  As for the content of the Decision, the particular items that have been 

chosen to feature in this first stage of harmonisation of criminal procedures, I suppose to some 

extent the decisions may seem a little bit arbitrary, there is no reference to right to bail, no 

reference to right to silence.  Do you think that the selection of the rights to be included in this 

first stage is reasonable overall or do you really think this is just an amendment, the addition 

of some of the other rights that most people would regard as being important? 

Ms Hodges:  There are some fundamental rights that have not been included.  Perhaps legal 

professional privilege is one of the fundamental rights that are not included. 

Q346  Chairman:  Is legal professional privilege, as we understand it in our jurisdiction, 

accepted as a principle across the European Union?  I simply do not know the answer to that. 

Dr Hart-Hoenig:  To a large extent.  I cannot cover all of the relevant jurisdictions, but to a 

large extent.  One of the pivotal elements is that if I cannot rely on confidential 

communication with my client and legal privilege, the next dawn raid could include the 

seizure of my defence papers and torpedo the defence.  It is one of the pivotal points. 

Q347  Chairman:  At the moment in Germany that cannot happen, you can insist on absolute 

confidentiality for your communications with your client, can you? 

Dr Hart-Hoenig:  The communications are fully protected.  The veil can be pierced to a 

certain extent in practice but in theory we are fully protected. 

14 



Q348  Chairman:  Is there much point in insisting on the right of the suspected person to 

have a lawyer advising at the earliest stage when the questioning of him is going to start 

unless also one has alongside it recognition of the confidentiality of communication between 

him and the client?  They go together, do they not? 

Ms Hodges:  Yes, and an opportunity to speak to your client in confidential circumstances. 

Mr Brown: As I understand the Framework Decision, the definition is a definition of a 

lawyer; it is not someone who is a police office adviser or a paralegal.  I support the 

comments made by Louise, it is one of the issues that we feel very strongly about, that there 

should be inclusion about client confidentiality and professional privilege.  That is being 

diminished in UK law in terms of the Proceeds of Crime Act and certain other legislation but 

that is because of the balances involved and the different circumstances.  Michael, I do not 

know whether you want to say anything else about that? 

Mr Meehan:  Thank you.  My Lord Chairman, the additional matter which we felt was 

appropriate was to emphasise the question of the right to silence.  To pick up on part of the 

general discussion already about legal systems being interested in the prosecution of the 

guilty and the protection of the innocent, I think it is fair to say that the right to silence is a 

right that is valued higher by the guilty probably.  To an extent it is the right not to say 

something of an incriminating nature.  To that end, it is important that a person is advised of 

that right compared with perhaps an inquisitorial system where a person is interviewed at an 

earlier stage.  In the Scottish system the caution is administered to point out that there is the 

right to silence and also that anything you wish to say may be used in evidence. 

Q349  Lord Hope of Craighead:  I just wanted to be a little clearer about the point in time at 

which the right to silence would be brought into this Framework.  It can operate at various 

stages right up until the moment when evidence is given at the trial.  Am I right in 

understanding that you are looking to the right to silence being spelled out at a very early 

15 



stage when somebody is at the point of being questioned in the police station?  Is that what 

you are getting at? 

Mr Meehan:  The stage will still be the same in Scotland, in other words when the person is a 

suspect.  We are not suggesting, as has been suggested in some other submissions, perhaps 

that when a person goes as a witness to be questioned that they are cautioned.  We would not 

be suggesting that.  The right is intimated at the same stage as it is at present in Scotland when 

the person is a suspect or there are reasonable grounds for suspecting that person, but to 

reinforce that right the person is given legal advice as to the implications of that right.  One of 

the dangers which we have encountered in practice is one sees in the transcript of a police 

interview that a suspect has been cautioned by the police at the beginning of the interview on 

the right to silence but 15 or 16 pages into the transcript they are being told: “This is your 

chance to give your side of the story” and without the benefit of legal advice that may dilute 

the protection which they think the caution gives.  Although it may be their chance to give 

their story at that time, if the matter goes to court they will have the chance to have their 

position investigated and, if felt appropriate, presented to the court.  That is something which 

is not said in the course of a police interview but if somebody had the benefit of legal advice 

at the stage the caution is given, that could be pointed out. 

Q350  Chairman:  One has to be clear what one means by the right to silence.  The right to 

silence does not mean that you do not have to say anything, but generally it can be taken also 

to mean that adverse comments on your position to say nothing cannot be made about you 

when eventually at trial.  If one takes right to silence as including the right not to have adverse 

comments made about your right to silence, one has to accept that in this jurisdiction the right 

to silence is not absolute any longer and adverse comments can be made in certain 

circumstances.  Is that the same in Scotland? 
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Mr Brown: Scotland is different.  As I understand it, the right to silence at this stage in almost 

all circumstances is almost absolute and comment cannot be made.  I know that right has been 

diluted for other reasons in England and Wales.  The right to silence between these two 

jurisdictions is different.  There is also a procedure in Scotland that once a person is 

interviewed he can be taken before a sheriff and questioned by the prosecutor in front of the 

sheriff, asked questions, and during the course of what is called judicial examination he is 

warned that if he does not disclose a defence or fails to comment, that can be commented on 

by the prosecution or any co-accused in a trial.  There is a half-way house there. 

Q351  Chairman:  My own view about the right to silence is that it may be a step too far at 

the moment because it is no use including in one of the minimum standards a harmonised 

right to silence unless you harmonise the content of the right to silence.  If you are going to 

harmonise that across the whole of the European Union you are going to have a big problem 

and it would be unlikely to reach unanimity. 

Dr Hart-Hoenig:  My Lord Chairman, if you will allow me to comment on that.  I only deal 

with white collar crime and I am very keen to get this right established, if I can put it that 

way.  Firstly, I would say that this can be derived from the right against self-incrimination.  

What I come across is the taxman asking a little bit or the individual dealing with 

environmental issues filing a report and, what a surprise, this report emerges in the criminal 

file.  For me, it is relevant to have it at the very beginning, very broad. 

Q352  Chairman:  What do you understand by “right to silence”?  Do you understand it as 

including also the right not to have adverse comments made about your failure to explain 

things that you must be able to explain? 

Dr Hart-Hoenig:  At worst these comments could put pressure on that the suspect and could 

lead to self-incrimination and a comment of such quality is not justifiable.  It is also not 
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justifiable if being silent could lead to aggravating a sentence.  In Germany, if you are a 

suspect you have the right to keep completely silent.  That also applies to other related areas.  

If there are taxation processes related to tax evasion, for example, you are also granted the 

right to silence. 

Q353  Chairman:  With no adverse comments in any circumstances being made about your 

right to silence? 

Dr Hart-Hoenig:  I could complain that making comments is putting pressure on the suspect 

in order to lure him to say something as a result to self-incriminate himself and that could be 

successfully appealed. 

Q354  Lord Hope of Craighead:  As a point of information really, how widely across the 

Member States does one encounter the kind of caution that one expects from a police officer 

in our jurisdiction? 

Mr Mitchell:  I do not think very often is the point.  May I hopefully deal with this in a 

slightly different way; I am bursting to.  If I have understood my Lord Chairman correctly, I 

am in agreement with his stance on this.  The reality of right to silence is all about the burden 

of proof in the end and the wrongness of our present position in the UK is one of the areas 

where we could benefit.  In the UK we are not perfect here, we could benefit from some of the 

European systems in reintroducing the right to silence in its naked form as a way of propping 

up the burden of proof because we have a lot of cases – the reverse burden of proof cases and 

so on, I will not go into a long list of matters - that are deteriorating rapidly even here.  If we 

allow the right to silence to carry on deteriorating – we do not effectively have one here is the 

reality now – then we are also allowing the deterioration of the burden of proof and all the 

other areas of criminal law and the proper standards that apply.  That was the point I wanted 

to make.  I hope that deals with your Lordship’s point. 
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Q355  Lord Hope of Craighead:  You have answered my point.  We cannot expect to meet a 

police caution in every Member State and, therefore, there is something here that needs 

attention. 

Mr Mitchell:  There is something here that needs attention, however there are good aspects of 

the system that we do have here.  On the system of cautioning and the rules about interviews 

and so on, we do have some excellent procedures here.  To answer a different question my 

Lord was asking about is our system so good that we should be happy that we have a good 

system and why should others take on our high standards, may I answer that from a different 

point:  because it saves money.  We can tell our European colleagues, and frequently do and 

they listen, that having a proper interviewing system, by audio or videotape, saves a lot of 

money in terms of trials and investigations that go on.  Whether or not they see it as a fair 

system, there is a pecuniary advantage in having it. 

Q356  Chairman:  Thank you.  Can I ask for your views about electronic recording of police 

interviews?  I have had it said to me, and I have not got any practical experience of this which 

allows me to have a view independently of the comments I have heard, that the introduction 

in police stations of electronic recording in this jurisdiction has been a major contributing 

factor in reducing miscarriages of justice.  Is that something which you think should be 

introduced at an early stage as part of the minimum standards, bearing in mind that there will 

be expense implications? 

Mr Mitchell:  I have given you my answer, my Lord. 

Dr Hart-Hoenig:  In a couple of jurisdictions taping is a completely alien idea.  We do not 

have it but we would welcome it very much in Germany.  “We” means the defence, I am not 

sure what the state would say, especially in terms of cost.  We only have evidence which is 

elucidated via questioning at the police station.  We have minutes which are filed but these 

are not verbatim.  Thus if a police officer says “Did I get it right?  I will give you a sentence, 
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is that what you mean?” “Yes”, and one of the statements given by an accused with an IQ of 

80 is “I committed this with conditional intent” and it is quite clear that was his wording!  

That will be transferred to the trial hearing and then we find out what has been done so far.  

Electronic recording would be excellent for us.  Possibly the problem is the cost.  Criminal 

law is always welcome because it shows that the administration is able to act but the last point 

on these bills is cost and if it is none that is what the politicians like.   

Q357  Chairman:  The other side of the costs coin is you save the costs of extremely 

expensive appeals perhaps. 

Dr Hart-Hoenig:  You are right.  It very much shortens the length of hearings. 

Mr Mitchell:  Firstly, I think that the ECBA thinks this is the right way to go but on a 

pragmatic point, coming back to the negotiations, and there is at least some discussion going 

on, we believe that it is possible in the mid to longer term to persuade other countries and 

jurisdictions to seriously consider this for the reasons that we have given. 

Mrs Keenan:  My Lord Chairman, from a Scottish perspective we too would welcome this as 

a measure.  It is something we do have north of the border and it is something which has been 

very effective in enabling us to resolve matters.  As a former prosecutor I can say certainly 

there were trials which were resolved at an early stage when we were able to play the tape to 

the defence in a particular case.  In some ways, perhaps the cost of implementing this and 

having recording equipment also can be offset by the costs of saving trials at some point. 

Mr Brown: Also, it is quite important that these provisions could be delayed slightly, I 

presume, to allow certain jurisdictions to facilitate the various Framework provisions.  I do 

not know whether they all have to be immediately implemented. 

Chairman:  There would have to be a lead-in time.  I tossed off the remark that it is all going 

to be very expensive but really I do not know what it will cost in terms of expenditure. 
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Q358  Lord Brennan:  Is it not important in these considerations, without being unduly 

divisive in your opinion, to take into account the fact that some European countries 

historically have worked in a criminal system based on arrest, long detention, no bail and the 

expectation ultimately of a confession or a plea bargain and all of these procedural devices 

that we are talking about are rather more particular to certain jurisdictions than others?  I 

would encourage you to keep advancing them because it would avoid the danger we have just 

spoken of. 

Mr Mitchell:  The biggest difficulty is in the East European bloc where there are a lot of 

problems and there is not always a judiciary completely free from corruption, and even in 

Southern Europe there is the absence of competition, or the restriction of competition. To 

become a barrister in Croatia you have to come up with €10,000 to join the local bar 

association and most Croatian lawyers cannot even afford a meal at the end of the day, let 

alone stump up that sort of money.  There is a host of problems.  My Lord is quite right to 

pinpoint one of them and I am not going to give you a long list of a lot of them but there are 

serious problems and the work has to go on.  It seems to me that if you want to have this 

mutual recognition then more and more effort has to be piled into it. 

Q359  Chairman:  Can I now come to some more detailed questions about the content of the 

proposed Framework Decision.  First of all, in Article 1 there is a reference to “criminal 

proceedings”, the decisions to apply to criminal proceedings.  Criminal proceedings, as you 

will know, in Luxembourg jurisprudence has an autonomous meaning.  Is it an adequate 

expression without elaboration to go into this proposal?  What about a person who is the 

subject of extradition proceedings, for instance, are they criminal proceedings? 

Dr Hart-Hoenig:  I guess criminal proceedings, especially in the Framework Decision, are 

sometimes dealing with extradition proceedings.  Clearly it should be expressed that all these 

rights are applied from the very beginning of investigations, irrespective of the formal 
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character of the proceedings.  If it is an extradition proceeding, my understanding is that it is a 

criminal proceeding.  If you express doubts as to whether it could be criminal proceedings, 

that could be a reason to make an amendment and obtain further clarification.  It must be 

clear.  It must cover all issues which are relevant or which could expose individuals to risks 

under criminal law that is extradition proceedings as well as other proceedings dealing with 

criminal issues.  That is not very clear in the framework decision. 

Mrs Keenan:  My Lord Chairman, we would support the view that perhaps we should look at 

the process that is adopted in relation to the European Convention on  Human Rights when we 

are looking at criminal matters and the classification of criminal matters and we should not be 

relying solely on Member States determining a matter as being criminal because clearly that 

would be a very neat way of avoiding the implementation of the Framework Decision.  A case 

I have come across is the case of Engel & Others v The Netherlands in 1976 which dealt with 

this matter.  In that case, four Dutch soldiers invoked Article 6.  The court looked at the 

ultimate sanction that could be imposed in that case.  I think that is a very important matter, 

we have to look at what norm is allegedly being violated and the nature and severity of the 

penalty that is to be imposed.  If we could frame a definition of a criminal procedure around 

that basis then I think that is what we would favour.  

Q360  Chairman: Would you be suggesting that the definition of “criminal proceedings” 

should exclude, relatively speaking, trivial proceedings as in, for instance, traffic offences of a 

reasonably moderate sort?   

Mr Brown: My Lord Chairman, I think the problem is to define “trivial “nowadays, with our 

increasing legislation because what is trivial for one person is not trivial for another.  With 

our experiences in Scotland of the new disclosure regime - and I welcome the disclosure 

regime - what would seem trivial before to some individual may be no longer if some major 

matter is disclosed at a later stage.  I would be rather subjective about that and to one person 
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the contravention of the Road Traffic Act - going through a red light - may not be that 

important but to another person it might be their total livelihood.   In our response to the 

Scottish Executive on this particular paper (of which we are happy to give your Lordships 

copies) we go into more detail as to what we mean by those matters which are not trivial and 

are important.   

Dr Hart-Hoenig: My Lord, if I may add a point: what does “trivial” mean?  For example, in 

Germany we have a distinction between criminal and administrative proceedings but, 

nevertheless, what can be imposed are fines of up to one million euro and proceeds can be 

forfeited.  It is equivalent, and it is more or less at the legislation’s discretion to say we are 

dealing with it as an administrative offence, for example anti-trust cases, or they can say, no, 

we will upgrade it to a criminal offence.  In our view, it can make a lot of difference which 

procedural rights are applied, and I would tend to broaden instead of narrowing the 

perspective or the scope of the application.  The other point which I have previously referred 

to is cross border actions.  What we have come across are examples of how to circumvent 

relevant safeguards.  For example, policemen are good friends - Italian policemen with 

American policemen and with French policemen - so they organise the shadowing of people 

and they can tell them, “This individual is now flying to Spain so you can catch him and you 

can extradite him to the USA,” which would not be possible under German law.  That is the 

reality.  Therefore, we are very cautious, and I would say it is better to be broad than having it 

narrow and making too many exclusions, which are prone to abuse.  

Q361  Chairman: It would be right to say, would it not, that there should not be allowed to 

be difference between different Member States so that particular proceedings in one Member 

State are called criminal and the provisions apply, whereas the same conduct in another 

Member State would be classified by them as not to be criminal so the provisions would not 
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apply?  You could not have that.  There would have to be an autonomous meaning given to 

the phrase.  Does that not mean you have to have some sort of internal definition? 

Mr Mitchell: My Lord Chairman, can I just come in on this.  I agree with what Kai has said, 

but simplifying it down to two more basic propositions which could find a universality 

amongst all the countries of the EU, we would I think say two things.  Firstly, if there is a risk 

that the product of any interview or production of documents could be used at a later stage in 

criminal proceedings, then they are the sorts of proceedings to which these Framework 

Decisions should apply - ie quasi criminal proceedings.  Secondly, if the sanctions that are 

imposed in any proceedings are equivalent to those that could be applied in criminal 

proceedings, then the laws apply.  So it is quite easy to come up with a definition which 

though not one of criminal offence fits circumstances in which the defendant or suspect ends 

up with a serious penalty of some sort imposed against him.  We would recommend that way 

of looking at it rather than a simple distinction between criminal and civil.  

Q362  Chairman: Thank you.  What about the suggestion that there be express mention of 

the European Arrest Warrant so that proceedings for the execution of such a warrant would be 

covered without any argument about how one classified proceedings of that kind?   

Mr Mitchell: It has to be done, my Lord, is the short answer.   

Mr Brown: Yes, we agree.  

Q363  Chairman: Now what about the point at which the requirements kick in?  At the 

moment under Article 1, paragraph 2, the rights apply to any person suspected of having 

committed a criminal offence when he is informed by the competent authorities that he is 

suspected, which allows for at least the conceptual possibility that the authorities by 

postponing the moment that they are giving this critical piece of information postpone the 

time when the rights apply.  Is that satisfactory?   
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Mr Brown: I think Michael is going to deal with that.   

Mr Meehan: The Society’s position is that it is not satisfactory because there is the danger of 

turning it into a game of “Simon Says” so that if the officer does not say, “You are now a 

suspect,” then the protection is not there.  

Q364  Chairman: What would you suggest?   

Mr Meehan: We would suggest the approach which was taken by Scottish courts when 

looking at the fairness question which is whether there are reasonable grounds to regard a 

person as a suspect or whether objectively that person was a suspect at that stage, so one 

would look at the stage in proceedings and the evidence available to make an assessment of 

whether the person is a suspect.  

Q365  Chairman: So the right would not necessarily apply at the beginning of the 

questioning process?  

Mr Meehan: No and, if I may say, it ties in with the point which is raised in question eight.  

There is a question about the courts applying the Criminal Proceedings Act to a suspected 

person. Certainly from a Scottish perspective criminal proceedings were often traditionally 

equated with court proceedings as opposed perhaps to the investigative stage of proceedings.  

Certainly my understanding of the European case law is that under Article 6 protection, when 

it comes to considering the right to trial within a reasonable time, the proceedings are 

regarded as commencing when the person is charged, so you would have a situation where 

criminal proceedings would apply not to a suspected person but to a charged person.  There is 

a danger therefore that the person, who although suspected is not charged, does not have the 

protection.  

Mr Mitchell: My Lord, could Dr Hart-Hoenig quickly express our view.   
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Dr Hart-Hoenig: With particular reference to questioning by the police we adopted a broader 

approach which means time runs from the moment that the individual becomes involved in 

the investigatory process either by being questioned or being required to produce documents 

because it is a suspect.  If it is an accused person under investigation it is also somewhat 

dependent on which type of process it is formally, and therefore one must look for, let’s say, a 

substantial definition that triggers these rights once an individual is exposed to risk under 

criminal law.  Maybe that is a definition where one can cover it.  Admittedly, it is a legislative 

issue but once this exposure is given these rights should apply. That is our stance.  

Q366  Chairman: Whatever the formulation becomes it has got to be practical, it has got to 

be workable from the point of view of criminal investigations.  It has of course got to be fair 

but it has also got to be workable because if it seems not to be working it simply will not be 

accepted.  Let’s take the case of a car accident where it looks as though somebody has done a 

bit of dangerous driving and the police are on the scene because there is an accident and they 

have been called; would you say the rights apply at that point? 

Ms Hodges: My Lord Chairman, how we tend to deal with that at the moment is by 

admissibility of what is said, and therefore once you suspect someone, once they step over 

that definition of being witness and become a suspect, at that time they are cautioned and their 

rights are established.  

Q367  Chairman: And if they are not cautioned you cannot use what they say?   

Ms Hodges: Exactly. 

Mr Mitchell: May I add that in our experience - a slightly different point - we have found 

both in Europe and in Britain there is an increasing tendency by investigators, whether in tax 

or criminal cases, to go to people who they may already feel are suspect but are not quite sure, 

take witness statements (sometimes quite a few witness statements) and then build up a body 
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of evidence which then entitles them to regard them as a suspect, and only then do the criteria 

apply.  We feel that is wrong and leads to injustice.  We are very concerned that at the earliest 

possible practical stage the rights should apply.  That is why we think this - because of the 

problems that can ensue.  

Q368  Chairman: At the “earliest possible practical stage” sounds difficult.  

Mr Mitchell: I agree with what Louise has said, it is difficult, my Lord, and maybe more 

work is required on this, but at the earliest stage in the investigation if not at the beginning  

(which would be my personal preference) of the investigation.   

Q369  Lord Hope of Craighead: Is there not a danger that you inhibit the whole process of 

police investigation altogether?  People can be involved, if I might take Dr Hart-Hoenig’s 

phrase, in the investigative process or the criminal process as witnesses, and no doubt 

members of the Law Society of Scotland will help me, but one is aware of cases where in the 

course of questioning by a policeman with a perfectly open mind as to who might be 

responsible for the crime it becomes clear that the person sitting in the chair in front of them 

may well be responsible for the very crime.  One has got to draw some kind of line at some 

point.  What is wrong with drawing the line at the point at which the individual becomes a 

suspect and if you do that you separate out those who are involved in the process quite 

innocently as witnesses, who are there perhaps reluctantly to help the prosecutor, and those 

who in the end will be prosecuted?    

Dr Hart-Hoenig: My Lord Chairman, I would not have a problem with it if it is quite clear 

that one cannot prove that the evidence (prior to placing the individual in the formal position 

of a suspect) has been obtained by deception and being aware that the individual could be a 

suspect but pretending he was merely a witness.  If it could be made sure that such evidence 

was inadmissible, then I would consider that, one of the essential safeguards in place.  
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Another point which is somewhat in between (not that I wish to use Germany as a blueprint 

for everything but my experience is derived from that country) – is that if a witness is 

interviewed he must be cautioned that he has the right to silence and is not obliged to 

incriminate himself since he could then be exposed to criminal risks.  There is a further point. 

In that the German Constitutional Court has decided that witnesses also have the right to have 

a lawyer present during questioning.  And that they can refuse to answer questions in the 

absence of one or without having spoken to one.  Represent several safeguards and I would 

therefore have no problems with an individual identified as a suspect whom would thus act as 

the trigger point at which action is taken.  I know (- apologise for reiterating this point -) that 

information is collected from various sources (taxation etc) as a witness followed by formal 

action all such evidence is admissible.  That is my point as to why I have reservations 

although be it must practicable.  

Q370  Chairman: Another timing point arises under Article 2(1).  A suspected person has 

the right to legal advice as soon as possible and then throughout the criminal proceedings if he 

wishes to receive it.  What about the “as soon as possible”; is that a satisfactory phrase?  Does 

that just mean as soon as you can get hold of a lawyer?   

Mr Mitchell: My Lord Chairman, you know our position - certainly mine - on this; “as soon 

as possible” is far too vague and we have indicated throughout that clear definitions are 

required.  I use the French example where you could have a situation where the suspect is 

taken into the “Garde a vue” and questioned for two days and once a confession is available 

that is the point at which it is considered “as soon as possible” and that is a very convenient 

moment for suddenly getting a lawyer in.  No, there has got to be a clearer definition than 

that.   

Q371  Lord Clinton-Davis: What are you suggesting as an alternative?  
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Mr Mitchell: As soon as the investigation begins.  Dr Hart-Hoenig has indicated that even 

persons who are being interviewed to give a witness statement have rights in terms of what 

they can have available to them.  We are concerned generally that there is no slippage in 

investigations and the pretence is, “We are foraging around to see where the suspect might 

be,” as part of the investigation, and we are concerned that the protection should go as early 

back as possible in the investigation.  And we can draw comfort from some of these German 

institutions.  

Ms Hodges: My Lord Chairman, if there is a right to have a lawyer present at any interview 

obviously an interview cannot start until you have obtained that legal advice and that lawyer 

is present.   

Mrs Keenan: I do not know if this assists in any way, but having had regard to some of the 

evidence you have had previously from the Commission I note what they said about their 

intention about that, and I wondered whether having regard to the legislation in Scotland 

where we have the phrase “without delay” could maybe clarify the matter for some people.   

Q372  Chairman: There are two other points arising out of Article 2(1) that have already 

been referred to by some of the witnesses.  One is what is implicit in the use of the expression 

“the right”?  Does that mean the right without paying for it?  Does that mean the Member 

State must provide the legal advice if the individual cannot pay for it?  Does legal advice 

mean simply a bit of advice or does it include assistance and representation in the criminal 

proceedings that follow?  Do you have any view about those points?  

Mr Brown: If I could deal with the latter point, first of all, my Lord Chairman, and say I think 

it was conceded by a witness from the Commission that it includes legal representation and I 

think it includes the whole process.  I am just trying to remember the first point now.  
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Q373  Chairman: The first point was whether you get it free, whether the right is the right to 

be provided without having to pay for it.  

Mr Brown: The brief answer to that is in the paper in response to the Scottish Executive, 

which we will give to your Lordships, we refer to the test for assistance for representation 

through the Legal Aid Board and the test applies on the basis of the nature of the offence and 

various interest of justice tests.  That is the short answer and hopefully that will assist.   

Mrs Keenan: Our concern when we looked at Article 2 was that it was not linked into Article 

5 in the same way Article 3 was.  We did feel if it was going to be a real right to legal advice 

then there should be some provision made in regard to payment, otherwise it would not be 

uniform.  

Q374  Chairman: Another problem which was discussed arising out of the same provision 

was that relating to the identity of people who were to give the legal advice and legal 

assistance, and the proposition was that if one insisted on it being a properly qualified lawyer, 

as we would all expect a lawyer to be qualified, then the existing arrangements in some newly 

joined Member States would become unusable because the individuals would be just 

paralegals or sometimes law students who had not yet qualified.  While it is plainly desirable 

that that should change to a system where properly qualified lawyers are available, that would 

take time and one did not want to outlaw the existing arrangements as being inadequate and 

unacceptable, although on a long term basis they might be.  

Mr Mitchell: We in the ECBA have given this a lot of debate and I have to say we have not 

entirely reached a unanimous conclusion on this very knotty problem.  If I  could say my bit 

first and I know Kai has a very profound and sensible argument for the opposition.  We have 

found in Eastern Europe and sometimes elsewhere - Georgia and lots of other countries 

outside the EU - that there is a very real need for representation in courts and there simply are 

not enough lawyers and a real need is expressed in these countries for people to go along.  
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Often it is done by NGOs or sometimes people who have practised in these courts and 

tribunals for up to 30 years.  It is just that they simply do not have an adequate or proper or 

recognisable legal qualification.  Our hearts go out to these people who do the job whom we 

meet regularly in these countries and we extend our deepest sympathies to them for taking on 

these needy cases where no other representation would exist.  That is a real problem and there 

is a temptation, I have to say on the part of some of us, to weaken our resolve in terms of 

having proper qualifications.  However, at the moment Kai’s position and that of others is in 

the ascendancy and it is that we should stick to standards and he will explain why we have 

come round to that way of thinking.  We worry about the problems but over to Kai.  

Q375  Chairman: What is your response?   

Dr Hart-Hoenig: Thank you very much.  We all have the experience that Member States are 

very reluctant to adhere to Framework Decisions and to implement them and so forth.  

Therefore I would not encourage them by creating a specific provision for a transitional 

period.  These accession states know the discussion, they know the green papers, they know 

what is going on and they know which Framework Decision they could face in maybe one or 

two years’ time, or whatever.  There will be a certain time given for implementation.  We 

have clear criteria and we have clear benchmarks for monitoring of it and if we allowed a 

transitional period of several years I guess they would be in a more laid-back position and 

say, “Thank you very much, we have ten years more before adhering to these regulations.”   

So much can be taken into account regarding the monitoring process and the time it takes to 

implement, but there should be no specific provisions contained in this Framework Decision.   

Q376  Chairman: There has been some discussion about the European Arrest Warrant 

already.  As you will know, one of the provisions of the European Arrest Warrant (and it has 

been repeated in the domestic legislation in this country and repeated in the European Arrest 
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Warrant Framework Decision) is that an individual can resist being extradited, 

notwithstanding the terms of the European Arrest Warrant legislation if he can satisfy the 

judge, the magistrates, whoever is presiding at the hearing, that if he goes to the requesting 

country his human rights will not be observed.  Well now, that was simply looking at the 

ECHR to which all Member States are signatories.  It was just occurring to me that it might be 

appropriate for this Framework Decision to say that extradition under the European Arrest 

Warrant provisions would not be obligatory in relation to an individual sought to be extradited 

if the individual can show that his rights under this provision would not be recognised, in 

which case why could they not bother too much about making special arrangements for 

countries that do not comply because they would not get the characters extradited.  Does that 

seem reasonable?   

Ms Hodges: My Lord Chairman, there certainly has to be some form of sanction or penalty if 

the safeguards are not adhered to.  They should be on several levels, not just on a national or 

Member State level but also at a grass-roots level, so that if the safeguards are not adhered to 

there are issues about admissibility of the evidence, so that there are reasons why 

investigators and everyone wants to make sure that those safeguards are adhered to.  

Q377  Chairman: I agree with the thrust of that but are you suggesting that the Framework 

Decision should have amendments to provide for those sorts of consequences of failure to 

comply with the rights provisions?   

Ms Hodges: I think that is a very useful suggestion.  

Mr Mitchell: My Lord, may I just add, yes, the right to a fair trial is an obvious one under 

Article 6 of the European Convention.  If there was any demonstration in the court which was 

thinking of sending somebody over to the issuing state under the European Arrest Warrant 

that there was no realistic chance of a fair trial, that ought to be clearly stated as a means of 

preventing that person going over to the issuing state.  
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Q378  Chairman: Fair trial adjudications from Strasbourg are usually after the event 

adjudications, are they not?  

Ms Hodges: We raised this right at the beginning of this session.  I agree with your Lordship.  

I think we are agreeing with the ECBA with that point.   

Dr Hart-Hoenig: Maybe that is a point in the overall monitoring system because it is one 

subset of this topic of what should happen if they are not adhering to it and not providing, for 

example, the qualified lawyers required under the Framework Decision.  In addition should 

there be a specific amendment dealing with it clearly or more or less tacitly addressing the 

accession state or taking the broader view?  If you take France they would say we are very 

qualified but unfortunately we have no access to our client and that is a problem.  It may also 

be a question of drafting rather than substance.  

Q379  Chairman: Can I move on to Articles 10  and 11 which impose an obligation to give 

what is called “specific attention” where the suspected person falls into certain disadvantaged 

categories - age, mental and physical condition and so forth - Article 11 sets out a number of 

rights which a person defined as having specific attention is to have.  Does the proposed 

provision here seem to you to be satisfactory in terms of the rights that the people who fall 

into these special attention categories are to have?  There is a question whether there is a 

sufficient connection between Article 10 and Article 11.  Perhaps it ought to be brought all 

into the same Article?   

Mrs Keenan: My Lord Chairman, if I can perhaps start with the definition.  We have 

indicated in our submission that we thought the phrase “specific attention” may be worthy of 

further definition, and perhaps a non-prescriptive set of examples given.  We have a situation 

in Scotland at the moment where we have just brought legislation through the Vulnerable 

Witness (Scotland) Act 2004 and, very unusually in those circumstances, the accused can 

come within the definition of vulnerable witness.  The test used in that situation looks at 
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whether there is a substantial risk that the quality of evidence which will subsequently be 

given in proceedings will be diminished due to fear or distress about giving evidence.  One 

might say that may apply to all accused but there it is.  It also provides a list of circumstances 

which can be taken into account when determining vulnerability.  We think that is most 

helpful because it sets out a range of issues such as those involved in political trials and 

relationships between ---  

Q380  Chairman: Did you say political trials?  

Mrs Keenan: Political trials and the issue of political allegiances.  It also refers to 

relationships between parties who are involved in the trial and so on.  It places quite a heavy 

onus on the person who is citing the witness or leading the accused in evidence to consider 

vulnerability at an early stage and to ensure that the specific measures are put in place in order 

to lead evidence from that person.  I accept that is at a later stage further down the process, 

although Articles 10 and 11 will ultimately look at that, and it is also looking at the interview 

stage, but that idea of looking at the character of the person who is the suspect, determining 

the issue of vulnerability and then taking specific measures to assist that person, is the 

approach that we think should be taken, so that you are looking at it on a subjective basis and 

you are putting that suspect in the same position that a suspect who is not challenged in the 

same way would be.  So we think there would be merit in looking at the definition again.  In 

regard to Article 11, we feel that Article 11(1), which is the audio and video recording, should 

be available for every accused not just those who are afforded the right to specific attention.  

Similarly, under Article 11(2), which is the right to medical assistance, if anyone requires 

medical assistance then they should be entitled to get that.  The third right under Article 11(3) 

is what we would describe in Scotland as a “supporter” or supporting person or appropriate 

adult.  We agree that should be one of the measures which could be given in appropriate 

circumstances.  There are other issues about definition which we would like to be teased out.  
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There is reference for example to age, mental, physical or emotional condition.  We are not 

clear whether something like a learning disability would come within the focus of that.  What 

about the aspect of vulnerability such as refugees or people who just do not understand the 

process but not as a result of age or mental physical or emotional condition?  

Q381  Chairman: You think it should be redrafted to widen the categories of persons who 

deserve specific attention?   

Mrs Keenan: Yes.  

Q382  Chairman: You mentioned political trials.  I think this was something which the 

European Criminal Bar Association mentioned as well.  I have to say that I have my 

reservations about that because I am not sure what was meant by political trials.  Trials in all 

European Member States would be trials under criminal law so what sort of criminal offence 

would deserve to be categorised as a political trial?  

Mr Mitchell: The buck passes squarely to me on this issue, I fear.  The sort of situation we 

had in mind is this: the leaking of government documents of a highly charged political nature, 

that is one example, or the secrecy laws where an employee of a government department 

decides to reveal some factor at the heart of the Iraq war, for example.  

Q383  Chairman: You would say that any prosecution in this country under the Official 

Secrets Act is a political trial, would you?   

Mr Mitchell: No, what I mean, so I make it clear, is this: where there is clearly in the 

investigator’s mind - and most people would understand what I say and what this means - a 

political dimension to it, there is an increased duty of care, I would submit, on the investigator 

to be aware of press publicity, the importance to government to get a quick decision and so 

on, and to be more aware of the way in which the investigation is conducted.  It places that 
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person, the defendant or suspect, in a more vulnerable position.  I would argue and submit 

that.  Others may not approve of that position but I do.  I say that is a category that needs to be 

considered and often is not.  

Q384  Lord Hope of Craighead: I wonder if I could come back to what Article 11 seems to 

be driving at.  If I am right, as I think I am, it is not really looking at the stage of the trial, it is 

really looking at the position of the suspected person, not the accused, and that brings me to 

look at the second sentence of Article 11(1) which is the control mechanism that “a transcript 

or recording shall be provided to any party in the event of a dispute”.  I just wondered what 

the practical thinking is behind this and what kind of disputes either you or Anne Keenan 

might envisage arising where one has a person who is vulnerable in the extended definition?  

Is this simply a dispute about what the person said, or a dispute about how the person was 

treated, or what kind protection would you like to see here lying behind the use of the audio 

or video recording?  

Mrs Keenan: I think we would like it to be available in all circumstances, not merely in the 

event of a dispute.  Really if it was in an investigatory stage interview then as the defence 

counsel you would want to be aware of what was said and the circumstances in which it was 

said and the whole ambit of circumstances, the state of mind perhaps of  the suspect at that 

time, the intonation, particularly if it was video recorded, and the conditions in which the 

interview took place.  

Q385  Lord Hope of Craighead: So are you really saying that it should be made available 

without qualification to the suspected person or his or her representative?  

Mrs Keenan: Yes. 
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Q386  Lord Hope of Craighead: It would be there for use for whatever purpose might 

emerge?   

Mrs Keenan: Yes.  

Mr Brown: Or it might emerge as part of the evidence, my Lord, as are taped interviews 

available in the Scottish jurisdiction at this stage.  Sorry to interrupt what you were saying, 

but in the event of a dispute the wording, as Lord Hope has indicated, may be supplementary 

to what the intention of certainly our submission is.   

Dr Hart-Hoenig: My Lord Chairman, the problem here is if we are going back to the area of 

enlightenment, then from a European perspective, it is a concept of autonomous personality.  

Moreover the question is when is the individual designated as mentally disabled relative to 

criminal proceedings and thus is not competent to defend themselves.  In Germany we have a 

different concept.  We have clearly defined cases of so-called necessary defence.  That covers 

some sorts of disabilities but also if a charge is brought before a lower regional court it is a 

case of necessary defence.  That is one point.   On political offences, my point is that 

so-called political offences receive special treatment which are not to the accused’s 

advantage.  Let’s take 9/11; The US Government introduced SAMs, (special administrative 

measures) to deal with it.  Maybe you can say it is the difference between war and something 

else but the liberal tradition under the Rule of Law says that if it is a crime and we are dealing 

with a criminal process then a crime must be taken as a crime.  Therefore there are a number 

of different positions and you can see that it is not an issue where we have a unanimous 

position in the ECBA.  I would argue that we are very much of the opinion that there should 

be no specific safeguards regarding political offences because that could be taken as being 

more discriminative than safeguards because if I am really a political offender about to 

present my case I should not be treated like a disabled grandmother or as having a child’s 

mind and not a political offence mind. 
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Chairman: My view of this - and the Committee will obviously discuss this in due course - is 

that the attempted definition of what constitutes a political offence would be such a minefield 

that it would really not be worth bothering with.  Besides which, there are all different sorts of 

offences which time by time and year by year become the subject of great political attention.  

It may be racial violence, it may be domestic violence and every now and again all the 

political parties say, “This is something which must be specially dealt with.”  What would 

constitute a political offence, using a very small “p” for the word political, would be variable.  

I think it would be a can of worms.  

Lord Brennan: It is also an entirely inappropriate one.  It is dependent on the capacity of the 

person to be involved in a fair investigative procedure.  It is not dependent on the nature of 

the offence, it is on the capacity of the individual and the existence of a tape recording and so 

on to test whether or not the person was of sufficient capacity.  So as soon as you adorn this 

special case with considerations about the nature of the offence, the courts are going to be 

besieged with arguments about “the tone of voice of an officer when he asked me a question”, 

or “it was a political offence” or “I was terribly nervous.”  It is impracticable.  

Q387  Chairman: About the only sort of criminal proceeding that could be justified in 

calling itself a political offence in this country would be impeachment and nobody is sure if 

that is the way ---  

Mr Mitchell: Perhaps we will see when one comes up!   

Q388  Lord Borrie: I do not know how far either group would agree with me but as this 

discussion has gone on it occurs to me that the only safeguards, to use the word in Article 

10(1), provided for these people needing specific attention are electronic recording on the one 

hand and medical assistance whenever needed on the other.  I have the impression that 
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everybody here today among the witnesses thinks that those safeguards should be available 

for everybody.  If that is so, what is left of Articles 10 and 11?  What is the point?   

Mr Mitchell: My Lord, to answer it directly, outside those two provisions the investigators 

should have an awareness of the needs or capacity of the individual who is there.  But it then 

may be that there is a particular problem and there may need to be some preliminary 

questioning of the person by the investigator to establish whether there is some urgent matter 

which is on the mind affecting the capacity of the person being interviewed before the 

interview is started.  That is really the point that we are getting at here.  The advantage being 

on the investigator to have that person in custody or closeted in the interview room, there 

should be an onus on the investigator to make sure that when they embark on that interview, 

when they are going to use that interview at some later stage, that they have properly ensured 

that the capacity of that person is correct and he is in the right frame of mind, and that they 

are going to get good evidence from it.  Too often investigators do not bother.  They are too 

concerned about getting the evidence, regardless sometimes, sadly, of whether that person 

was in the right frame of mind to actually undergo an interview.  That is what is at the basis of 

this.  That is what is behind this.   

Mr Meehan: My Lord Chairman, if I may make a small point.  When one considers the 

protection of whether a person was from a capacity point of view able to give an interview or 

to follow what was happening, it would seem more appropriate rather than a transcript be 

given that a copy of the tape be given (whether it is audio or visual) because very often what 

the defence seeks to do is have a psychological assessment of all information, and that would 

include the inflexion, the tone.  An expert who has that information, I would suggest, is far 

better placed than somebody reading a transcript, which can perhaps give a slightly distorted 

perception.  Often transcripts do not pick up pauses between answers.  It may be more helpful 

if the word “transcript” were replaced with the word “copy”.  
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Q389  Chairman: I take the point, thank you.  Can I now move to Article 12, the right to 

communicate.  The text in paragraph 1 says a suspected person remanded in custody - and we 

have raised the question of what the implications are of the use of the verb “remanded” and 

the response was that the word is out of place and will have to be changed so I do not think 

we need to spend too much time on that - but the question that has been raised is whether 

there ought to be a right to communicate with a doctor as necessary and at what particular 

point of time the right to communicate with the family and employers would arise.  My own 

impression would be that it ought to arise immediately.  I do not know what view the groups 

before us have about that.  

Mr Mitchell: My Lord, I would simply answer it very swiftly.  Under English law and the 

Code of Practice there is a right to communicate straight away unless there are good reasons 

affecting injury to persons or destruction of property and so on, certain set categories?  

Without gloating, I think that the UK Codes of Practice tend to provide a useful set of 

safeguards as to when the right to communicate could be had, which could well be adopted 

and ought to be adopted elsewhere.  

Mr Meehan: My Lord Chairman, the Scottish position is the same, that the intimation is sent 

without delay unless there is a good reason, and as a fall-back position, where good reason 

does exist, the Society would be keen in those cases that immediate intimation is sent to the 

consulate so that a person who is either travelling abroad or working abroad does not seem to 

disappear off the radar.  I do appreciate that the investigating authorities may not want the fact 

of intimation to be passed on to the family or employers for legitimate reasons connected with 

verification but at least it does mean that there is some monitoring or some independent 

organisation is aware of the detention in custody of a person.  

Q390  Chairman: I suppose there might be circumstances in which the investigative 

authorities would certainly not want other members of the family or, in the case of employers, 
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employers to know.  Equally, there might be cases where the suspected person did not want 

them to know either!   

Mr Brown: Certainly not their employers.  

Q391  Chairman: What about a doctor?  Amnesty International suggested that the right to 

communicate should include the right to access to a doctor of one’s choice.  I am not sure 

about this “of one’s choice”.  A lawyer of one’s choice I can understand but doctor of one’s 

choice?  A suitably qualified doctor of course but of one’s choice?  

Mr Meehan: One can envisage the British patient travelling abroad simply to be arrested so 

they can see their own doctor that week!   Certainly we would not support that.  We can 

appreciate the point of concern that has been raised by Amnesty.  However, if doctors are 

police casualty surgeons and they are regulated then that would be appropriate.  I think it is 

worth bearing in mind that looking at the overall Framework Decision that it is driven 

towards having access to a lawyer at an early stage.  Often a solicitor who sees a client and 

the client is saying, “I am on medication, and that has not been provided,” can raise that with 

the custody officer and that is recorded.  Although, a lawyer is clearly not in a position to 

diagnose they can certainly raise medical concerns.  There is therefore, to an extent, an 

independent aspect if there is concern about the medical involvement in some countries.  

Ms Hodges: Yes we agree entirely with what has been said.  

Q392  Chairman: On the letter of rights in Article 14, the first question is when the letter of 

rights should be handed over.  Article 14(3) really has the implication that it would only be on 

arrest but the Commission in the evidence they have given us has indicated that they think 

that the suspected person should be given the notice at the earliest possible opportunity and 

certainly before any questioning takes place.  I imagine that there would be no resistance to an 

amendment to the proposals to make that clear?   
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Ms Hodges: No, we would agree with that amendment.  

Mrs Keenan: We agree.  

Q393  Chairman: The more difficult question is what the letter of  rights should contain.  It 

has got to be reasonably short and punchy.  You must refer in summary outline to the 

important rights that the minimum standards will entitle the individual to.  There is also 

provision in Part B for the rights of the country in which he or she finds himself or herself to 

be set out.  That is more difficult.  Testing it by reference to this country, what rights would 

go into the Part B part of the Letter of Rights do you think?  

Ms Hodges: That falls to me being the only English solicitor here.  I scribbled this on the way 

in the cab so I hope I have covered most aspects: the right to a copy of the PACE codes of 

practice which we have; the right to free legal advice at interview; the right to confidential 

consultation with your legal advisor; the right to silence, although of course with the caution 

of the adverse inferences that can now be drawn; the right against self-incrimination; the right 

to a copy of the tapes on the charge; and the right to be informed of the allegation against you 

and the basis of the allegation.  One I forgot was the right to a telephone call or 

communication.  

Q394  Chairman: Yes, one would have to bear in mind that at the stage at which the letter of 

rights was handed over there probably would not have been any allegation against you in any 

formal sense.  

Ms Hodges: No, but it is right that it should be clarified at the beginning of interview what 

the allegation is against you and the basis of the allegation.   

Q395  Chairman: Would the content be much the same in Scotland?   

Mrs Keenan: Yes, obviously omitting reference to PACE.  
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Q396  Chairman: There must be a Scottish equivalent?  

Mrs Keenan: Yes.  

Chairman: A problem that might arise in relation to the letter of rights is the entirely 

practicable one of what languages is it to be in.  You might be in a police station in Outer 

Mongolia, I do not know about that, but it might be somewhere quite remote where you might 

find yourself ---  

Lord Hope of Craighead: In Stornoway!   

Q397  Chairman: To say it should be in every official Community language does sound to 

me a little impracticable.  

Mr Mitchell: My Lord, I think we take the view that if it is going to be taken seriously, and 

we do take it seriously, then there really does have to be provision for this letter to be 

available in most of the commonly spoken languages of the world or areas of the world.  That 

is the first point and we have a novel suggestion for tired police officers or other investigators 

which is to have some emblem or flag on the document so that where someone might not be 

able to decipher writing on the document, “Is this the form you need, sir?” if they saw the flag 

or emblem on it they may think, “Ah, that is my area of the world or whatever” and get to the 

right form at somewhere near the right time.  

Q398  Chairman: So you think that every police station in the United Kingdom should have 

a copy of this letter in Chinese?  

Mr Mitchell: I think so, my Lord if not at every police station those forms should be available 

in the locality and be got to the police station at an early opportunity.  This is a pretty 

fundamental exercise of the rights and the rights are not available if they are not in the 

language or in the material that the person can understand.  I think it is fundamental.  This 

nettle has to be grasped, it seems to us.  
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Mrs Keenan: We would agree with that, my Lord Chairman.  With current day information 

technology as it is there should be provision to store these on computer disk or some format 

where they could be printed out relatively easily in that particular language.  

Q399  Chairman: I suppose if they were stored electronically the problem I mentioned 

would not be so serious.  

Mr Brown: We have an awful lot of Chinese people in Glasgow.  

Q400  Chairman: I guess many of them speak English or Scottish?  

Mr Brown: Yes, very well.   

Q401  Lord Brennan: May I ask a question to whichever of the two groups would like to 

respond to it.  There is a danger when you get to a document like this of a police station filling 

up with a lawyer, a doctor, a father, a mother and an interpreter and the whole thing loses 

shape and coherence.  What do you think about - and it may not be appropriate to put it into 

an article - some kind of preambular comment or some comment perhaps from this 

Committee, Lord Chairman, that the consequences of all these variable requirements can 

usually be avoided or reduced in cost or difficulty if the principal protectons are provided – a 

lawyer and I would say a tape recording.  If you have those two then nobody is going tell 

somebody, “You cannot speak English, no questions.”  I would have thought there is more of 

an impact in terms of human rights protection if you have the most important precautions.   

Mr Brown: Can I say, my Lord, that I could not agree more because certainly in my 

experience of having dealt with visits to police offices, which can on occasions be very 

intimidating places, having the benefit of the introduction of tape recordings has lessoned the 

allegations of police officers putting words in mouth and lessoned certain parts of the trial 

process.  Very seldom now is there a challenge to what is said and if there are challenges they 

44 



are fundamental challenges.  The second aspect and why we are so strongly supportive of a 

qualified lawyer getting access is that it is often the case that the police officers are concerned 

with investigation and a qualified lawyer there who takes it upon himself, with all of the 

implications of that responsibility in advising a client, can make a big difference, particularly 

in serious crime, to the future process and can affect the length and complexity of a trial by 

giving proper advice.  So I totally support that comment.   

Mr Mitchell: My Lord, I agree totally with what has been said.  May I just add these two 

features.  I agree that having a qualified lawyer is brilliant and should be what happens.  That 

is the perfect position.  Why – and let’s not lose sight of it - because there is a duty to the 

court to provide the best evidence.  That is what we are all hoping for in the end - a proper 

trial with the best evidence available.  That is the aim.  Yes, but in a fall-back position - and I 

come to my second point - where a qualified lawyer is not always available, the reality, sadly, 

is that even though there are local solicitor schemes available and so on and the people are 

very worthy and very careful to make sure they work properly, you can get trainees going out 

at 3 o’clock in the morning who simply do not have the level of qualification, for example, for 

a particular type of trial or a particular individual and they are always the weakest links in 

these matters and that is where you then have to have the appropriate - I am sorry to use the  

expression - fall-back position.  I agree with you in principle but it is the long hours of the 

night where things fall down where you need to have a fall-back position.  In a perfect world I 

agree with you but it is not always a perfect world. 

Q402  Chairman: Thank you.  Can I now ask for your views with regard to evaluation.  My 

view with regard to evaluation and monitoring is that the success of this proposal in raising 

standards appropriately across the European Union will depend upon there being proper 

machinery for evaluation, and without it it will run into the sand without making any real 

difference.  I think it is very, very important that there should be proper monitoring and 

45 



evaluation procedures put in place.  I do not think it is going to be enough simply to have a 

gathering of statistical information because you have got to make sure that you get the right 

information there to be gathered.  What is going to be needed is some form of system for 

getting complaints about inadequacies in the observance of these minimum standards from the 

practical experiences of those suspects and their lawyers who have been held in Member 

States and questioned and been dealt with in criminal proceedings.  Do you have any 

suggestions about how this might be done?   

Ms Hodges: Well, we agree that as well as statistical analysis, which as we all know can tend 

to say whatever the person who is crunching the numbers wants it to say, that any monitoring 

should also have interviews with lay persons, which includes suspects, defendants, victims 

and other witnesses, and practitioners (as in criminal defence practitioners) so that the 

evaluation will both be on a statistical basis and an anecdotal basis so there is some flesh on 

what the statistics say.  We welcome the idea of an independent group of experts to monitor 

and evaluate the Framework Decision while not necessarily just being European Commission 

based monitoring.  We think that other parties and individuals and practitioners should also be 

involved in the monitoring process.  

Q403  Chairman: If it is going to be, as I think it is, a requirement that will be imposed by 

those minimum standards that the individual is given a lawyer to assist him or her in dealing 

with the allegations that may be made against him or her, is there any reason why it should 

not be made a matter of professional obligation on the part of that lawyer to report to some 

central authority whether it is in England the Bar Council or the Law Society in Scotland, the 

Bar Council or the Law Society, any complaints which the lawyer has about the observance 

within the country of these requirements, and that would then provide a means for easy 

collection of the details you would need for evaluating and monitoring.  
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Mr Mitchell: My Lord Chairman, I think maybe initially, yes, but there does need to be 

something supra-national to be a driving force to getting that material once received by bar 

councils and so on in the first place.  There is a lot of percolation up to Bar Council level but 

it may not go any further.  You do need a body, a college, representative unit from all the Bars 

of Europe or some other institution which draws upon and is proactive in finding out and 

investigating what is going on and receiving complaints.  It needs to be more than just the 

usual drizzle upwards and then you find a level and it never goes any further.  I am 

pessimistic about it unless there is a driving force proactively going out and seeking 

information.  

Q404  Chairman: The Commission could be asked to appoint officials to conduct the 

monitoring exercise and to receive the details that the professional bodies to which I have 

referred would have available to provide them with.  

Mr Mitchell: I believe the ECBA are moving towards the position (although it is not yet 

elucidated) of an independent body and they are not in favour of the Commission dealing with 

this internally or by themselves.  A great deal of thought is being given to this by all the Bars 

in Europe at the moment as to what particular form this body should take.  The general view 

is that it should be independent and supra-Bar and independent and public and visible.  

Q405  Chairman: You have got to start, have you not, with requiring the lawyers who are 

acting for these individuals to report problems or inadequacies that they have come across in 

dealing with the particular case?   

Mr Mitchell: I do not see there is a difficulty in them doing it provided there is a proper 

independent and transparent body to report to.  It might be that their own national Bar is not 

seen as being impartial or a good enough body to report to however much compulsion is 

applied.  
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Q406  Lord Hope of Craighead: I want to be quite clear, Mr Mitchell, you are envisaging a 

supra-national body ultimately; is that right?  Is that because if you confine it within each 

Member State or contracting state or whatever it is you will not get the perspective that you 

really need in order to understand that things are being done uniformly across the various 

jurisdictions? 

Mr Mitchell: Yes I do.  That is partly the reason, my Lord, and partly because Europeans are 

capable of dealing with supra-national issues; and having to have a rolling presidency of such 

a body for example --- and I am sorry, these are not well-formulated ideas, they are ideas that 

are being debated at the moment with no great cohesion.  However, I think there may well be 

in the short-term future a more cohesive view held by the Bars.  If that helps, that is the 

position.   

Q407  Chairman: Why should it not be some organ of the Commission?  I am not quite sure 

I understand the objection to that?  

Mr Mitchell: Because there might be a reason for the Commission wanting to applaud itself 

for a wonderful job it has done and it has not done a wonderful job.  

Q408  Chairman: No, no, I am suggesting that the Commission would not be investigative 

itself but would simply be collecting the material which the arrangements with the lawyers 

and the lawyers’ associations would have collected.  

Mr Mitchell: We do not have great confidence in that being a proper vehicle for this sort of 

job.  

Q409  Chairman: Which vehicle, the Commission?   

Mr Mitchell: Yes.  

Q410  Chairman: I was not sure why not.  
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Mr Mitchell: Because it is cumbersome, there is too much information, and it already has a 

big enough job to do in other areas.  This is a very selective area which needs a proper job 

done on it by a body which is truly independent of the Commission and is seen by the public 

and lawyers to be independent.  

Q411  Chairman: You want a body which is truly independent of the prosecuting authorities 

in the respective countries.  That is the essential piece of independence, surely?   

Mr Mitchell: My Lord, I agree with that but at the moment I do not think any of us can give 

you an answer specifically to this question.  All we can do, my Lord, is to be encouraging that 

a lot of thought is going into it, albeit I cannot give you a remedy that is instantly available at 

this moment.    

Dr Hart-Hoenig: The problem is that the Commission tends towards fulfilling self-prophecy.  

In monitoring they would decide to define the criteria and the reporting systems to obtain the 

outcome that they would like to have.  Another point regarding the reporting obligations, I am 

also somewhat reluctant because it is possible to get anonymous reports that would be prone 

to abuse by lawyers.   

Q412  Chairman: Anonymous in what sense?   

Dr Hart-Hoenig: That the reports could not be traced to who reported about what case.  If 

they just collect it ---  

Q413  Chairman: I was not suggesting that.  

Dr Hart-Hoenig:  If you are suggesting that it will not be anonymous ---  

Q414  Chairman: I am.   

Dr Hart-Hoenig: And it is clear that lawyer X made a report saying this prosecutor did that, 

this judge did that  ---  
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Q415  Chairman: It would be much more factual than that.  For example, on the right to 

communicate the suspect was not given the facility to communicate for a week or whatever.  

Or a specific attention matter where a particular individual was a child aged ten and his 

parents were not informed and there was nobody present when he was being questioned by 

the police.  This sort  of thing.    

Dr Hart-Hoenig: May I give you the background to my comment.  I came across a dawn raid 

regarding tax evasion and I told the officer who was conducting it, “You know it is 

completely unlawful” and his reply was that “By other means I could not get the documents.”  

Why could he say that?  He knows firstly that matter relates to taxation and he knows that to a 

certain extent I must rely on some sort of co-operation. Secondly, he knows that under 

German law is the documents are admissible.  I could of course make a complaint that could 

sour relations with the tax offices and would not necessarily lead to the most advantageous 

results regarding taxation and all other relevant matters.  What happens is that no complaint 

will emerge in this case.  Coming to a settlement is preferable.  It is often a power game 

between the prosecution and we are reluctant to complain about these individuals because we 

have to deal with them for the next ten or 20 years.  

Q416  Chairman: I understand that but what you are saying is that there may be no 

complaint made in a case where a complaint ought to be made and if that is so then the system 

has to put up with that?  That is what you are saying, is it not?  

Dr Hart-Hoenig: Right.  

Q417  Chairman: Thank you all very, very much indeed.  We have had you here helping us 

for more than two hours and I really am very grateful indeed.  I expect we have kept you 

much longer than you thought you would be kept and the fact that we have is an indication of 

how valuable we have found your answers.   
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Mr Mitchell: Most kind.   

Mrs Keenan: Thank you very much.     


